

Since January 2020 Elsevier has created a COVID-19 resource centre with free information in English and Mandarin on the novel coronavirus COVID-19. The COVID-19 resource centre is hosted on Elsevier Connect, the company's public news and information website.

Elsevier hereby grants permission to make all its COVID-19-related research that is available on the COVID-19 resource centre - including this research content - immediately available in PubMed Central and other publicly funded repositories, such as the WHO COVID database with rights for unrestricted research re-use and analyses in any form or by any means with acknowledgement of the original source. These permissions are granted for free by Elsevier for as long as the COVID-19 resource centre remains active. Contents lists available at ScienceDirect





# Science of the Total Environment

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/scitotenv

# Occurrence of viruses in sewage sludge: A systematic review

Sahar Gholipour <sup>a</sup>, Mohammad Rezvani Ghalhari <sup>b</sup>, Mahnaz Nikaeen <sup>c</sup>, Davarkhah Rabbani <sup>a</sup>, Parichehr Pakzad <sup>c</sup>, Mohammad Bagher Miranzadeh <sup>a,\*</sup>

Check for updates

<sup>a</sup> Department of Environmental Health Engineering, Faculty of Health, Kashan University of Medical Sciences, Kashan, Iran

<sup>b</sup> Department of Environmental Health Engineering, School of Public Health, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

<sup>c</sup> Department of Environmental Health Engineering, School of Health, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

## HIGHLIGHTS

- Enteric viruses are highly presented in wastewater and consequently in sludge.
- SARS-CoV-2 removed efficiently by digestion processes from sewage sludge.
- Land application of sewage sludge may pose health risk to exposed individual.

## GRAPHICAL ABSTRACT



## ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 30 October 2021 Received in revised form 25 January 2022 Accepted 11 February 2022 Available online 16 February 2022

Editor: Ewa Korzeniewska

*Keywords:* Enteric viruses Sewage sludge Biosolids SARS-CoV-2

# ABSTRACT

Enteric viruses are of great importance in wastewater due to their high excretion from infected individuals, low removal in wastewater treatment processes, long-time survival in the environment, and low infectious dose. Among the other viruses, severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) surveillance in wastewater systems has received particular attention as a result of the current COVID-19 epidemic. Viruses adhering to solid particles in wastewater treatment processes will end up as sewage sludge, and therefore insufficient sludge treatment may result in viral particles dissemination into the environment. Here, we review data on viruses' presence in sewage sludge, their detection and concentration methods, and information on human health issues associated with sewage sludge land application. We used combinations of the following keywords in the Scopus, Web of Science (WOS), and PubMed databases, which were published between 2010 and January 21th, 2022: sludge (sewage sludge, biosolids, sewage solids, wastewater solids) and virus (enteric virus, viral particles, viral contamination, SARS-CoV-2, coronavirus). The sources were searched twice, once with and then without the common enteric virus names (adenovirus, rotavirus, norovirus, enterovirus, hepatitis A virus). Studies suggest adenovirus and norovirus as the most prevalent enteric viruses in sewage sludge. Indeed, other viruses include rotavirus, hepatitis A virus, and enterovirus were frequently found in sewage sludge samples. Untreated biological sludge and thickened sludge showed more viral contamination level than digested sludge and the lowest prevalence of viruses was reported in lime stabilized sludge. The review reveals that land application of sewage sludge may pose viral infection risks to people due to accidently ingestion of sludge or intake of crops grown in biosolids amended soil. Moreover, contamination of groundwater and/or surface water may occur due to land application of sewage sludge.

\* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: miranzadehm@ymail.com (M.B. Miranzadeh).

## Contents

1.	Introduction								
2. Materials and methods									
	2.1.	Search strategy							
	2.2.	Screening quality evaluation.							
	2.3.	Data items							
	2.4.	Data extraction							
	2.5.	Data analysis							
3. Results									
						4.1.	Enteric viruses		
	4.2.	SARS-CoV-2							
	4.3.	Concentration and detection methods							
5.	Concl	usions and outlook							
CRe	CRediT authorship contribution statement								
Declaration of competing interest									
Acknowledgments									
Appendix A. Supplementary data									
Refe	References								

#### 1. Introduction

People all over the world produce wastewater. In most countries, a high proportion of the wastewater is treated by the activated sludge process (Pepper et al., 2006), resulting in large volumes of sludge or biosolids being produced (millions of tons in each country) (Dubova et al., 2020; Pepper et al., 2006; Wong et al., 2010). Biosolids are defined by the United States Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA) as "the predominantly organic solid product provided by municipal wastewater treatment technologies that can be beneficially recycled" (US EPA, 1995). Sewage sludge is a combination of primary sludge and secondary sludge, produced during the wastewater treatment processes (Deboosere et al., 2012; Pepper et al., 2006). Primary sludge results from the settling of solids as they enter a wastewater treatment plant (Corpuz et al., 2020; Mohapatra et al., 2021; Yin et al., 2018). Secondary sludge results from the conversion of soluble organic matter in the wastewater to bacterial biomass (Bibby and Peccia, 2013a; Pepper et al., 2006; Yin et al., 2018). The two types of sludge are then combined and must either be disposed of or recycled in some manner (Pepper et al., 2006).

In the management of sludge, land application is the most widely used method. Treated sewage sludge, biosolid, is widely used in agricultural and nonagricultural fields as soil amendment since it can enhance the chemical and physical qualities of soil, and provide nutrients that are beneficial for plants growth. Food crops on agricultural lands, such as corn or wheat, and non-food crops like cotton are examples of how land application of biosolids can improve crops growth and yield (Amdiouni et al., 2013; Wong and Xagoraraki, 2012). In addition to farmlands, public parks, golf courses, forests, and cemeteries are examples of non-agricultural land application. It is also possible to use biosolids in order to assist re-vegetation of severely disturbed lands, such as mine tailings or strip mine regions (Pepper et al., 2006). However, biosolids must be treated properly before the land application. Biosolids can be the source of different chemical and biological contaminants such as heavy metals, hydrocarbons, biphenyls, dioxins and pharmaceuticals and pathogenic microorganisms (Assis et al., 2017; Gholipour et al., 2020a; Prado et al., 2014). Biosolids are classified into two categories based on their microbial quality: Class A and Class B (Gerba et al., 2011; Horswell et al., 2010). Class A biosolids result from higher levels of sludge treatment, and no considerable levels of pathogens are found in them. Class B biosolids are the product of a lower level of sludge treatment and are typically contaminated with bacterial, parasite, and viral pathogens (Gerba et al., 2011; Horswell et al., 2010; Pepper et al., 2006; Wong and Xagoraraki, 2012). In developing countries, produced biosolids are mostly placed in the class B (Prado et al., 2014), so the land application of these biosolids may pose health risk to the individuals because of the presence of pathogenic microorganisms. Among the pathogens, enteric viruses are highly presented in wastewater and consequently in sludge. The occurrence of enteric viruses in wastewater is related to the high levels of virus excretion in feces of infected individuals  $(10^5 \text{ to } 10^{12} \text{ viral particles per gram of}$ feces) (Corpuz et al., 2020). Diseases caused by enteric viruses range from trivial to severe, or even fatal. Several studies have reported the greater health risks of viruses than pathogenic bacteria or protozoa present in wastewater (Farhadkhani et al., 2018; Gonzales-Gustavson et al., 2019; Moazeni et al., 2017). However, health risks associated with viral contamination of land applied biosolids have not been well documented. In addition to enteric viruses, in the recent pandemic, the presence of the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) in the feces of infected individuals and consequently in wastewater and sewage sludge has been approved (Bogler et al., 2020; Gholipour et al., 2021a). In contrast to wastewater, there are limited studies about the viruses present in sewage sludge. According to the high accumulation of viruses in biosolids and its wide land application, it seems that a comprehensive review is needed to survey the potential impacts.

In this review, the presence of viruses in sewage sludge/biosolids, methodologies for the extraction and detection of viral particles in sludge samples, and potential viral infection risks associated with the land application of sewage sludge/biosolid are discussed.

#### 2. Materials and methods

## 2.1. Search strategy

Our literature searches in the Scopus database in the "title, abstract or keywords", in the Web of Science (WOS) in the "all fields" and PubMed published from 2010 to January 21th, 2022, resulted in a total of 1175 articles. According to the search strategy, following keywords were chosen and merged (Boolean operators): sludge, sewage sludge, biosolids, wastewater solids, sewage solids, virus, enteric virus, SARS-CoV-2, coronavirus, viral particle, and viral contamination. Sources search was performed two times, once with common enteric viruses' names (adenovirus, enterovirus, hepatitis A virus, norovirus, and rotavirus) and then without the inclusion of these viruses' names. The Search strategies and inclusion and exclusion criteria are presented in the supplementary material (Appendix A: table S1, S2).

## 2.2. Screening quality evaluation

The duplicate articles were deleted first, followed by title screening, and then two individuals evaluated the abstracts of all articles retrieved by the keyword search. After full text screening of the article, our study ultimately contained 13 relevant papers. Following that, an initial list of articles was compiled (Fig. 1). A checklist was created to ensure the quality of the included studies and to assess the papers' alignment with the study's



Fig. 1. Flowchart of the database search, selection, and review process of articles.

objectives and questions, as determined by the STROBE checklist (Appendix A: table S3,S4) (Von Elm et al., 2007).

# 2.3. Data items

The "PICO" strategy for systematic exploratory review was: Population (P) (Virus, Viral particle, Enteric Virus, Adenovirus, Enterovirus, Rotavirus, Norovirus, and Hepatitis A virus), Intervention (I) (Sludge, Sewage sludge, Biosolids, and Digested sludge and Wastewater solids), Comparison (C) (Wastewater Treatment Plant Waste, Activated Sludge), and Outcome (O) (presence of various viral particles in the sludge).

## 2.4. Data extraction

Two authors (S GH and M R GH) separately extracted data from the included studies and entered them into an MS Excel sheet template. The extracted data was condensed and the following items are presented in this manuscript: The first author's name, the year of the study, country and location, type of sample, number of samples, sampling frequency, detected viruses, virus concentration, frequency of detection and concentration and detection method.

# 2.5. Data analysis

By following the previous steps, until January 21th, 2022 about 59 published research papers with relevant title, were identified and inspected. Finally, 13 quotable papers were incorporated in the study.

## 3. Results

As mentioned in the materials and methods section, a total of 585 unique papers were obtained from 3 databases, and after screening based

## S. Gholipour et al.

on the title, abstract, and full text relevance, 13 articles were entered into the study.

Publications in which sewage sludge samples were spiked and artificially contaminated by viral particles include studies investigated the efficiency of virus concentration and extraction methods, the sensitivity and accuracy of detection methods, and virus survival and inactivation rates were excluded from full text articles. Brown et al. (2015) study on viruses'

## Table 1

Characteristics of included studies.

enumeration in sewage sludge samples using the flow cytometry method in which the type of viruses wasn't specified, was also excluded from the remaining articles (Brown et al., 2015).

Extracted data from the literatures is presented in Tables 1 and 2. Articles included in our study were published between 2010 and 2022. In each study, a minimum of two samples have been analyzed from various sludge types. The largest sample sizes (72 samples) related to the Kittigul and

First author Country/ lo (year)	cation Type of sample	No. of samples	Investigated viruses (type of virus)	Viral particle extraction method	Detection method	Refrence
Schlindwein Brazil/ et al. Florianopol	Activated s sludge	12	Adenovirus, Hepatitis A, Rotavirus, Poliovirus	Elution with beef extract/Adsorption-precipitation	PCR/ICC-PCR/IFA	(Schlindwein et al., 2010)
Wong et al. USA/Michig (2010)	an Dewatered sludge, mesophilic anaerobically digested	15	Adenovirus, Enterovirus, Norovirus Human polyomavirus, Hepatitis A virus	Elution with beef extract /flocculation	PCR/ICC-PCR	(Wong et al., 2010)
Jebri et al. Tunisia/Tun (2012)	is Activated sludge	48	Enteroviruses and Hepatitis A virus	Adsorption-precipitation AlCl <sub>3</sub> & PEG 6000 precipitation	PCR	(Jebri et al., 2012)
Bibby (2013) USA	Anaerobically digested sludge	10	Herpesvirus, Papillomavirus, Bocavirus, Parvovirus, Kelassevirus, Coronavirus, Astrovirus, Parechovirus, Saporvirus, Hepatitis C, HIV, Cosavirus, Aichivirus, Rhinovirus, T-lymph virus, Coxackievirus, Rubella virus, Adenovirus, Rotavirus, Enteroviruses and Hepatitis A virus	Elution with glycine/PEG 8000 precipitation	PCR/ Metagenomic	(Bibby and Peccia, 2013a)
Prado et al. Brazil/Rio (2014) Janeiro	le Primary sludge	12	Adenovirus, Hepatitis A, Rotavirus, Norovirus	Elution with beef extract/	PCR	(Prado et al., 2014)
Rhodes et al. (2015) Colorado, Missouri, Te Maryland, N Carolina, Ol Utah	Aerobic and anaerobically xas, digested forth sludge tio, and	34	Adenovirus	Flocculating Bacto beef extract	PCR	(Rhodes et al., 2015)
Assis et al. Brazil/Rio c (2017) Janeiro & J Fora	e Activated iiz de sludge	10	Adenovirus	Elution with glycine /Skimmed-milk flocculation	PCR	(Assis et al., 2017)
	Thickened sludge Digested	2 2				
Kittigul et al. Thailand/Ba (2019)	ngkok Lime stabilized sludge	23	Noroviruses	Adsorption-elution with glycine & arginine/ vacuum centrifuge	PCR	(Kittigul et al., 2019)
D'Aoust et al. Canada (2021)	Post grit sludge Primary clarified sludge	5 6	SARS-CoV-2	Filtration and PEG concentration	PCR	(D'Aoust et al., 2021)
Kittigul Thailand/ (2021) Bangkok	Lime stabilized sludge	72	Rotavirus	Adsorption-elution with glycine & arginine/ vacuum centrifuge	PCR	(Kittigul and Pombubpa, 2021)
Balboa et al. Spain/ (2021) Ourense	Primary sludge Biological sludge	5 10	SARS-CoV-2	Elution with glycine and beef extract/ PEG 8000 precipitation	PCR	(Balboa et al., 2021)
	Thickened sludge Digested sludge	10 10				
Serra-Compte Spain & Fra et al. (2021)	nce Non-treated sludge <sup>a</sup> Treated	56 51	SARS-CoV-2	Elution with glycine and beef extract/ PEG 8000 precipitation	PCR	(Serra-Compte et al., 2021)
Pourakbar Iran/	sludge <sup>D</sup> Primary	4	SARS-CoV-2	Elution with glycine and beef	PCR	(Pourakbar
et al. East Azerba (2022)	Jan sludge Activated sludge Anaerobically digested	4 8		extract/ PEG 8000 precipitation		et al., 2022)

<sup>a</sup> Primary and secondary sludge.

<sup>b</sup> Sludge thickening, anaerobic digestion and anaerobic digestion plus thermal hydrolysis.

#### Table 2

Detection frequency of viruses in different types of sewage sludge.

First author (year)	Sample type	Frequency (%)				Ref				
		CoV <sup>a</sup>	AdV <sup>b</sup>	EnV <sup>c</sup>	NoV <sup>d</sup>	RoV <sup>e</sup>	HeV <sup>f</sup>	PoV <sup>g</sup>		
Schlindwein et al. (2010) <sup>h</sup>	Activated sludge	-	100	-	_	25	16.7	91.7	(Schlindwein et al., 2010)	
Wong et al. (2010) <sup>h</sup>	Dewatered sludge	-	100	100	67	-	0	-	(Wong et al., 2010)	
	Mesophilic anaerobically digested	-	83	42	50		0	-		
Jebri et al. (2012)	Activated sludge	-	-	7.7	-	-	0	-	(Jebri et al., 2012)	
Bibby (2013) <sup>h</sup>	Anaerobically digested sludge	-	100	70	80	83	-	-	(Bibby and Peccia, 2013a)	
Prado et al. (2014)	Primary sludge	-	91	-	50	41	0	-	(Prado et al., 2014)	
Rhodes et al. (2015)	Aerobic and anaerobically digested sludge	-	100	-	-	-	-	-	(Rhodes et al., 2015)	
Assis et al. (2017)	Activated sludge	-	100	-	-	-	-	-	(Assis et al., 2017)	
	Thickened sludge	-	100	-	-	-	-	-		
	Digested sludge	-	100	-	-	-	-	-		
Kittigul et al. (2019)	Lime stabilized sludge	-	-	-	73.9	-	-	-	(Kittigul et al., 2019)	
D'Aoust et al. (2021)	Post grit sludge	79	-	-	-	-	-	-	(D'Aoust et al., 2021)	
	Primary clarified sludge	90	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Kittigul (2021)	Lime stabilized sludge	-	-	-	-	50	-	-	(Kittigul and Pombubpa, 2021)	
Balboa et al. (2021)	Primary sludge	80	-	-	-	-	-	-	(Balboa et al., 2021)	
	Biological sludge	10	-	-	-	-	-	-		
	Thickened sludge	90	-	-	-	-	-	-		
	Digested sludge	0	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Serra-Compte et al. (2021)	Primary sludge	83.3	-	-	-	-	-	-	(Serra-Compte et al., 2021)	
	Secondary sludge	57.1	-	-	-	-	-	-		
	Thickened sludge	69.2	-	-	-	-	-	-		
	Digested sludge	71.4	-	-	-	-	-	-		
	Digested plus thermal hydrolysis sludge	0	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Pourakbar et al. (2022)	Primary sludge	50	-	-	-	-	-	-	(Pourakbar et al., 2022)	
	Activated sludge	75	-	-	-	-	-	-		
	Anaerobically digested sludge	0	-	-	-	-	-	-		

<sup>a</sup> SARS-CoV-2.

<sup>c</sup> Enterovirus.

<sup>e</sup> Rotavirus.

<sup>g</sup> Poliovirus.

<sup>h</sup> qPCR results are reported.

Pombubpa (2019) study conducted on lime stabilized sludge from a wastewater treatment plant in Bangkok, Thailand (Kittigul and Pombubpa, 2021) and Serra-Compte et al. (2021) study in which 107 sludge samples were taken from 16 wastewater treatment plants in Spain and France (Serra-Compte et al., 2021). Studies have been carried out in different parts of the world on different sewage sludge sample types, including primary sludge, digested and non-digested sludge, dewatered sludge, thickened sludge and lime stabilized sludge. Adenovirus was the most frequently detected enteric virus in sewage sludge samples, followed by rotavirus and norovirus. The presence of SARS-CoV-2, the causative agent of COVID-19 pandemic, was (has been) investigated in four studies (Balboa et al., 2021; D'Aoust et al., 2021; Pourakbar et al., 2022; Serra-Compte et al., 2021). The adsorption-elution method and polyethylene glycol (PEG) precipitation were the most frequently used methods for viral particles extraction in sewage sludge. In 10 of the 13 included studies, polymerase chain reaction (PCR) has been used to identify viruses in sludge samples. However, in two studies, integrated cell culture along with PCR (ICC-PCR) has been used (Schlindwein et al., 2010; Wong et al., 2010), and in the Bibby et al. (2013) study, PCR of selected viruses was used to validate metagenome annotation results.

# 4. Discussion

This paper highlights the available data on the presence of viruses in sewage sludge. The systematic review process used to find and extract relevant literature benefits from a carefully read selection process that takes into account critical research features such as study relevance and quality (Eftim et al., 2017). Additionally, the review process is quick, reproducible, and adaptable to integrate new data as they become available.

Because sewage sludge contains concentrated human waste from thousands to millions of people, it has a high pathogen diversity potential (Bibby and Peccia, 2013a, 2013b). Raw wastewater and secondary (or biological solids) contain particle-associated viruses, and sewage sludge is the final destination of these viruses (Bibby and Peccia, 2013a).

Land application of sewage sludge/biosolids is becoming more popular around the world since it has the advantage of abating of environmental contamination and providing an extra supply of nutrients to agroecosystems (Sidhu and Toze, 2009). However, there is a growing concern about whether land application of sewage sludge would pose a risk of accidental ingestion by workers, consumption of contaminated agricultural crops, and contamination of groundwater and/or surface water (Horswell et al., 2010).

## 4.1. Enteric viruses

Because of aggregation and adhesion characteristics of viruses to solid particles, it is believed that the stability and inactivation of enteric viruses in sewage sludge differ from that in wastewater (Bofill-Mas et al., 2006; Sidhu and Toze, 2009). The enteric viruses detected in sewage sludge samples can be categorized into two groups: enteroviruses (poliovirus, coxsackievirus and echovirus) and a heterogeneous group which include rotavirus, human caliciviruses, astroviruses, adenovirus and hepatitis A and E viruses. Human adenoviruses are generally found in all sludge types (Sidhu and Toze, 2009). In all studies conducted on adenoviruses presence in sewage sludge samples, adenovirus was successfully detected in different sludge types with a high prevalence (Assis et al., 2017; Bibby and Peccia, 2013a; Jebri et al., 2012; Prado et al., 2014; Rhodes et al., 2015; Schlindwein et al., 2010; Wong et al., 2010). After a review of existing data on the adenoviruses numbers in sewage sludge, we observed that adenoviruses numbers vary from  $2.5 \times 10^3$  genomic copy.g<sup>-1</sup> dry weight in digested sludge (Rhodes et al., 2015) to average around 10<sup>5</sup> genomic copy.ml<sup>-1</sup> in activated sludge samples (Assis et al., 2017; Schlindwein

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> Adenovirus.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>d</sup> Norovirus.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>f</sup> Hepatitis A virus.

et al., 2010). The reported numbers of adenovirus in primary sludge were  $10^4$  to  $10^5$  genomic copy.L<sup>-1</sup> (Prado et al., 2014). In untreated wastewater, human adenoviruses are frequently present in high numbers ( $10^3$  to  $10^8$  infectious units/L) (Rames et al., 2016). Due to its high resistance and abundance in environmental samples, as well as detection of the infectious virus in chlorinated drinking water and wastewater, adenovirus is considered an emerging pathogen (Hewitt et al., 2013). Adenoviruses because of their non-enveloped structure and double-stranded linear DNA are more resistant to disinfection processes and unfavorable environmental conditions than other viruses, especially RNA viruses (Gholipour et al., 2021b). Adenovirus persistence in environmental samples is associated with a long survival time (132 days in wastewater and > 301 days in viral-contaminated sterilized surface water) (Wong and Xagoraraki, 2012).

Adenovirus has been studied in 6 articles out of 13 included articles. Certain adenoviruses appear to be largely respiratory pathogens, while others appear to be exclusively gastrointestinal pathogens. Adenoviruses, particularly those of type 40/41, are frequent causative agents of diarrhea in infants. Enteric adenoviruses produce devastating infections in immuno-compromised patients, with case mortality of up to 50% (Pepper et al., 2006). Identification of adenovirus serotypes would enable more refined evaluation of risks associated with land application of sewage sludge. The adenoviral infection risk associated with the land application of sewage sludge could be discussed from two points of view: gastrointestinal and respiratory infections. Contamination of sewage sludge with a respiratory pathogen, transmitted via inhalation, such as adenovirus 2, may cause respiratory tract infection, while enteric pathogens such as adenoviruses 40/41 may pose gastrointestinal tract risk via ingestion (Rames et al., 2016).

Human noroviruses are the most common cause of acute gastroenteritis, causing significant morbidity and mortality all over the world (Pepper et al., 2006). In one of the studies that was conducted on this topic, norovirus was detected in 74% of lime stabilized sludge samples (Kittigul et al., 2019). In Bibby et al. (2013) study norovirus was detected in anaerobically digested sludge, indicates the low efficiency of thermal treatment on this virus removal from wastewater solids (Bibby and Peccia, 2013a). Norovirus and adenovirus have previously been found in top soil improver samples, including sewage sludge (Tozzoli et al., 2017).

Norovirus, which belongs to the Caliciviridae family, is divided into seven genogroups. Humans generally carry the genogroups GI, GII, and GIV, which can be further classified into more than 40 genotypes (Kittigul et al., 2019). Norovirus genotype GII.4 outbreaks are common in healthcare facilities, whereas water and food-related outbreaks are associated with the GI and non-GII.4 (Kittigul et al., 2019). Norovirus-related waterborne epidemics have been documented and linked to the drinking tap water (Giammanco et al., 2018), contaminated water well (Qin et al., 2016), and wastewater infiltration into the water distribution network (Moreira and Bondelind, 2017).

During rotavirus-associated diarrhea, substantial amounts of viral particles are excreted in the feces. The virus is mainly transmitted by the fecaloral pathway (Crawford et al., 2017), which in susceptible hosts, only a few virus particles are required to cause disease (Ward et al., 1986). Rotavirus presence in different sludge types has been investigated in 4 studies, with a prevalence of 25% to 83% (Bibby and Peccia, 2013a; Kittigul and Pombubpa, 2021; Prado et al., 2014; Schlindwein et al., 2010). Rotaviruses are widespread, infecting nearly every child in the world by the age of 3–5 years (Gurwith et al., 1981). In 2003, 114 million cases of rotavirus infection in children under the age of five years old were reported worldwide, which 24 and 2.3 million requiring (required) outpatient visits and hospitalization, respectively (Parashar et al., 2003).

Enteroviruses were detected in dewatered sludge (100%) (Wong et al., 2010) activated sludge (7.7%) (Jebri et al., 2012) and digested sludge samples (42% and 70%) (Bibby and Peccia, 2013a; Wong et al., 2010). In Jebri et al. (2012) study, low concentration of enterovirus was associated with low efficiency of its detection method (about 1000 pfu. 100 ml<sup>-1</sup>).

In study of Schlindwein et al. (2010), hepatitis A virus and poliovirus were detected in 16.7% and 91.7% of activated sludge samples,

respectively. They reported that the high prevalence of poliovirus in sewage sludge samples, can be probably originated from vaccine-derived PV strains in Brazil (Schlindwein et al., 2010). All sludge samples in studies of Prado et al. (2014), Jebri et al. (2012) and Wong et al. (2010) were negative for hepatitis A virus (Jebri et al., 2012; Prado et al., 2014; Wong et al., 2010).

Comparison between virus concentrations among different sewage sludge types was not possible because of the difference in reported units. However, a high prevalence of enteric viruses has been reported in, which could be a concern in terms of land application.

# 4.2. SARS-CoV-2

In our literature review, four studies were found to detect SARS-CoV-2 RNA in sewage sludge samples (Balboa et al., 2021; D'Aoust et al., 2021; Pourakbar et al., 2022; Serra-Compte et al., 2021). D'Aoust et al. (2021) study in Canadian low COVID-19 incidence communities showed that 79% of post grit solids and 90% of primary clarified sludge were positive for the presence of SARS-CoV-2. It indicates primary cleared sludge as a superior solids-rich sample for the detection of SARS-CoV-2 signal during decreasing and low virus load in communities, compared to post grit solids (D'Aoust et al., 2021). Balboa et al. (2021) investigated the presence of SARS-CoV-2 in different sludge types in a wastewater treatment plant located in north-western Spain from 6 to 21-April 2020. Sludge samples were included 5 primary sludge, 10 biological sludge, 10 thickened sludge and 10 anaerobically digested sludge. As is shown in Table 2, SARS-CoV-2 RNA were present in the most of the primary and thickened sludge samples, whereas none of the digested sludge samples were positive. In this wastewater treatment plant, the primary settler and the sludge thickeners act as "concentrators" of SARS-CoV-2 RNA. No viral RNA was found in the digested sludge, which is probably related to the high temperature faced during the anaerobic digestion (Balboa et al., 2021).

Pourakbar et al. (2022) also investigated the fate of SARS-CoV-2 in two wastewater treatment plants in Iran. They observed that the virus has a significant propensity for accumulating in biosolids rather than moving via aqueous phase. However, after studying the fate of virus in sludge, they reported that SARS-CoV-2 is completely destroyed during anaerobic digestion (Pourakbar et al., 2022). This study proves that high retention times and anaerobic processes can effectively break down viral RNA. Despite to the results of Balboa et al. (2021) and Pourakbar et al. (2022), in a study conducted in 16 wastewater treatment plants in Spain and France, SARS-CoV-2 was appeared with high frequency in thickened and anaerobically digested sludge and the only sludge samples without viral RNA were those that had been digested and thermally hydrolyzed (Serra-Compte et al., 2021). However, none of the studies investigated the stability and infectivity of the detected SARS-CoV-2 in sludge samples. Studies have investigated the persistence of enveloped viruses in the environment are rather limited because of enveloped viruses are inactivated faster than nonenveloped viruses in the environment (Gholipour et al., 2020b; Kitajima et al., 2020; Lahrich et al., 2021). However, enveloped viruses can still survive and be infectious for long periods of time depending on the environmental conditions (Lahrich et al., 2021; Rahimi et al., 2020). It is because of surface S-proteins that are deeply anchored and pass through the envelope, so infectivity is maintained even if the envelope is disrupted but the surface S-proteins are intact (Lahrich et al., 2021). Studying the inactivation rate or survival of the SARS-CoV-2 in wastewater treatment plants will assist to improve the sludge treatment requirements and control measures for land application, but to the best of our knowledge, the viability of SARS-CoV-2 in wastewater treatment plants has not been well documented. However, studies have been conducted on other coronaviruses could provide a basic understanding of SARS-CoV-2 persistence. It has been reported that while SARS-CoV-1 persisted for 3 days in water matrices at 20 °C, it was vulnerable to chlorination (Wang et al., 2005). Using a plaque assay or median culture infectious dose (TCID50) technique, Gundy et al. (2009) determined human coronavirus 229E survival in water and wastewater. Thermal condition, biological activity and level of organic matter were effective factors on the coronavirus survival. They

reported that coronavirus was inactivated faster at higher temperatures and lower suspended solids content (Gundy et al., 2009). Therefore, for the estimation of health risks associated with disposal or land application of sludge, further studies are needed to determine the persistence of SARS-CoV-2 in sewage sludge using techniques that determine the infectivity of the virus, such as cell culture assay.

#### 4.3. Concentration and detection methods

Identifying viruses present in sludge is complicated because the land application of sludge and its return to the soil may pose health risks. Some viruses have a low infectious dose. For example, the number of norovirus particles needed to infect a person is estimated at 10–100 (Hamza et al., 2011; Lindesmith et al., 2003). So, even a low number of viruses may pose risks to public health. Developing sensitive methods for monitoring viruses in sewage sludge will help to prevent or reduce potential health risks. Study of viruses in sludge is a complicated procedure that can be divided into two major steps: viral particles extraction from samples and virus detection.

Viral particles should be extracted from environmental samples prior to performing the detection methods. In contrast to virus extraction from aquatic samples, in which viral particles are only concentrated, virus extraction from sludge samples requires an elution step. This is because of the heterogeneity of sludge matrices, the adsorption of viral particles to sludge flocs, and the presence of many different chemical components that are problematic for virus detection methods (Hamza et al., 2011; Yang et al., 2021). A range of various procedures has been used for extraction of viral particles from environmental samples which could be related to the cost of extraction methods, availability of reagents and instruments, and scalability.

The methods used to detect viruses in environmental samples are of two major types: cell culture infectivity and molecular methods (Metcalf et al., 1995; Monpoeho et al., 2001).

Environmental samples, particularly sewage sludge, contain a variety of organic and inorganic compounds (proteins, humic acids, polyphenols, and metal ions) that cause cell cultures to lyse (Monpoeho et al., 2001; Schrader et al., 2012). Additionally, all these compounds are capable of forming complexes with DNA/RNA and inhibiting enzymes responsible for amplification of nucleic acids in molecular methods such as PCR (Monpoeho et al., 2001; Schrader et al., 2012). The accuracy of results of detection methods for viruses therefore depend on the efficiency of inhibitors removal from sludge samples in elution processes and consequently re-concentration of viruses from the eluants in the extraction procedures.

As is shown in Table 1, virus extraction in the included studies was performed by elution of sludge samples with glycine buffer and beef extract buffer followed by different virus concentration processes.

Viral particles was mainly concentrated by PEG (Balboa et al., 2021; Bibby and Peccia, 2013a; D'Aoust et al., 2021; Pourakbar et al., 2022). In two of included studies, samples which precipitated with AlCl<sub>3</sub> was mor concentrated by using the PEG (Jebri et al., 2012; Schlindwein et al., 2010). Assis et al. (2017) used skimmed-milk flocculation (Assis et al., 2017) and ultracentrifugation and vacuum centrifugation were also used in some studies (Kittigul et al., 2019; Kittigul and Pombubpa, 2021; Prado et al., 2014). Although, in the included studies the comparison of recovery efficiency of different concentration methods was not possible, there are reports about the high performance of ultracentrifugation for virus concentration (Fumian et al., 2010; Yang et al., 2021). However, ultracentrifugation requires equipment that is not typically available in many laboratories. Some studies reported that PEG precipitation method was more efficient than chemical flocculation methods in viral particles recovery from different environmental samples (Barril et al., 2021; Gholipour et al., 2021a).

As has been mentioned before, cell culture and molecular methods are the main detection methods used in environmental virology. In most of the included studies, viruses have been identified using PCR (Assis et al., 2017; Balboa et al., 2021; Bibby and Peccia, 2013a; D'Aoust et al., 2021; Jebri et al., 2012; Kittigul et al., 2019; Kittigul and Pombubpa, 2021; Pourakbar et al., 2022; Prado et al., 2014; Rhodes et al., 2015), the results of which may be overestimated. In PCR, nucleic acid fragments are targeted by specific primers and extended by the polymerase enzyme. So, PCR is not able to distinguish infectious viruses from non-infectious ones (viable vs non-viable) (He and Jiang, 2005). On the other hand, cell culture, which is known as the gold standard for examining the infectivity of isolated viruses, frequently underestimates the level of viruses. However, viability and infectivity of some viruses in sludge is largely unknown (Sidhu and Toze, 2009). Norovirus can barely be detected by cell culture methods, because the majority of norovirus strains are non-cytopathogenic or develop slowly in cell culture (Ko et al., 2005). Although in none of the studies, direct cell culture was used for detecting viruses in sludge samples, two studies used Integrated Cell Culture followed by PCR (ICC-PCR) to survey the infectivity of isolated viruses. ICC-PCR is a technique that combines cell culture and PCR to detect infectious viruses that grow slowly or do not induce cytopathic effect.

Wong et al. (2010) used quantitative PCR (qPCR) and ICC-PCR to detect adenovirus and enterovirus in sludge samples in which the viruses' detection frequencies were higher using qPCR than with ICC-PCR (A549 cells and BGM cells) (Wong et al., 2010). Schlindwein et al. (2010) quantified the presence of adenoviruses in sludge samples by qPCR and viable ones by ICC-PCR and indirect immunofluorescence assay (IFA). All adenovirus positive samples by PCR were infectious using IFA and ICC-PCR (Schlindwein et al., 2010). In the IFA assay, viral antigen detection is performed by fluorescent staining of viral particles with the virus specific antibodies (Hamza et al., 2011). Techniques like ICC-PCR and IFA shorten the time it takes to detect infectious viruses and overcome to sludge inhibitor components in direct PCR. These approaches, however, may be expensive and do not address the challenge of assessing viral infectivity for viruses such as human noroviruses, that do not infect cell cultures.

## 5. Conclusions and outlook

The present study is one of the first reviews that reports the global evidence on the occurrence of viruses in sewage sludge. Enteric viruses are more heat resistant than bacteria and their infectious dose is low. So, onsite (workers and children while playing) and off-site (residents and consumers of contaminated crops) exposure to viral particles associated with the land application of sludge/biosolid may pose health risks to individuals. Moreover, ground and surface water contamination related to land application of sewage sludge must be taken into consideration. Viral contamination of sewage sludge emphasizes the importance of application of treatment processes which could effectively reduce viral pathogens in wastewater.

However, limited data on the anthropogenic and environmental factors controlling the occurrence and circulation of viruses in sludge and amended soils are available. Given the significant environmental and economic benefits of land application of sludge/biosolid, further quantitative studies are required to determine the fate and viability of viruses in sewage sludge/biosolid amended soil under a variety of environmental conditions, as well as the associated health risks. It seems, the occurrence of SARS-CoV-2 in treated sludge is low, and may not pose health risks to farmers and consumers, but preventive measures must be taken for wastewater treatment plants workers during treatment processes, to reduce the infection risk.

## CRediT authorship contribution statement

Sahar Gholipour: Writing - Original draft preparation, Conceptualization, Writing - Reviewing and Editing.

Mahnaz Nikaeen: Supervision, Writing - Reviewing and Editing.

Mohammad Rezvani Ghalhari & Parichehr Pakzad: Methodology, Investigation, Reviewing and Editing.

**Mohammad Bagher Miranzadeh:** Writing - Original draft preparation, Supervision.

Davarkhah Rabbani: Writing - Original draft preparation.

## Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

## Acknowledgments

This study received no external funding. We appreciate the insightful comments from the editor and reviewers that improved the manuscript and its presentation.

## Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.153886.

#### References

- Amdiouni, H., Soukri, A., Nourlil, J., Maunula, L., 2013. Preliminary study to assess the performance of mengovirus elution from sludge. Food Environ. Virol. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s12560-013-9116-2.
- Assis, A.S.F., Otenio, M.H., Drumond, B.P., Fumian, T.M., Miagostovich, M.P., da Rosa e Silva, M.L., 2017. Optimization of the skimmed-milk flocculation method for recovery of adenovirus from sludge. Sci. Total Environ. 583, 163–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2017.01.045.
- Balboa, S., Mauricio-Iglesias, M., Rodriguez, S., Martínez-Lamas, L., Vasallo, F.J., Regueiro, B., Lema, J.M., 2021. The fate of SARS-COV-2 in WWTPS points out the sludge line as a suitable spot for detection of COVID-19. Sci. Total Environ. 772, 145268. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.scitotenv.2021.145268.
- Barril, P.A., Pianciola, L.A., Mazzeo, M., Ousset, M.J., Jaureguiberry, M.V., Alessandrello, M., Sánchez, G., Oteiza, J.M., 2021. Evaluation of viral concentration methods for SARS-CoV-2 recovery from wastewaters. Sci. Total Environ. 756, 144105.. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.scitotenv.2020.144105.
- Bibby, K., Peccia, J., 2013a. Identification of viral pathogen diversity in sewage sludge by metagenome analysis. Environ. Sci. Technol. 47, 1945–1951. https://doi.org/10.1021/ es305181x.
- Bibby, K., Peccia, J., 2013b. Prevalence of respiratory adenovirus species B and C in sewage sludge. Environ Sci Process Impacts 15, 336–338. https://doi.org/10.1039/c2em30831b.
- Bofill-Mas, S., Albinana-Gimenez, N., Clemente-Casares, P., Hundesa, A., Rodriguez-Manzano, J., Allard, A., Calvo, M., Girones, R., 2006. Quantification and stability of human adenoviruses and polyomavirus JCPyV in wastewater matrices. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 72, 7894–7896.
- Bogler, A., Packman, A., Furman, A., Gross, A., Kushmaro, A., Ronen, A., Dagot, C., Hill, C., Vaizel-Ohayon, D., Morgenroth, E., Bertuzzo, E., Wells, G., Kiperwas, H.R., Horn, H., Negev, I., Zucker, I., Bar-Or, I., Moran-Gilad, J., Balcazar, J.L., Bibby, K., Elimelech, M., Weisbrod, N., Nir, O., Sued, O., Gillor, O., Alvarez, P.J., Crameri, S., Arnon, S., Walker, S., Yaron, S., Nguyen, T.H., Berchenko, Y., Hu, Y., Ronen, Z., Bar-Zeev, E., 2020. Rethinking wastewater risks and monitoring in light of the COVID-19 pandemic. Nat. Sustain. 3, 981–990. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-020-00605-2.
- Brown, M.R., Camézuli, S., Davenport, R.J., Petelenz-Kurdziel, E., Øvreås, L., Curtis, T.P., 2015. Flow cytometric quantification of viruses in activated sludge. Water Res. 68, 414–422. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2014.10.018.
- Corpuz, M.V.A., Buonerba, A., Vigliotta, G., Zarra, T., Ballesteros, F., Campiglia, P., Belgiorno, V., Korshin, G., Naddeo, V., 2020. Viruses in wastewater: occurrence, abundance and detection methods. Sci. Total Environ. 745, 140910. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv. 2020.140910.
- Crawford, S.E., Ramani, S., Tate, J.E., Parashar, U.D., Svensson, L., Hagbom, M., Franco, M.A., Greenberg, H.B., O'Ryan, M., Kang, G., Desselberger, U., Estes, M.K., 2017. Rotavirus infection. Nat. Rev. Dis. Primers. 3, 17083. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrdp.2017.83.
- D'Aoust, P.M., Mercier, E., Montpetit, D., Jia, J.J., Alexandrov, I., Neault, N., Baig, A.T., Mayne, J., Zhang, X., Alain, T., Langlois, M.A., Servos, M.R., MacKenzie, M., Figeys, D., MacKenzie, A.E., Graber, T.E., Delatolla, R., 2021. Quantitative analysis of SARS-CoV-2 RNA from wastewater solids in communities with low COVID-19 incidence and prevalence. Water Res. 188, 116560. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2020.116560.
- Deboosere, N., Horm, S.V., Delobel, A., Gachet, J., Buchy, P., Vialette, M., 2012. Viral elution and concentration method for detection of influenza a viruses in mud by real-time RT-PCR. J. Virol. Methods 179, 148–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2011.10.013.
- Dubova, L., Strunnikova, N., Cielava, N., Alsina, I., Kassien, O., Bekker, A., 2020. Thermal decontamination of sewage sludge. Agron. Res. 18, 781–787. https://doi.org/10.15159/A R.20.040.
- Eftim, S.E., Hong, T., Soller, J., Boehm, A., Warren, I., Ichida, A., Nappier, S.P., 2017. Occurrence of norovirus in raw sewage – a systematic literature review and meta-analysis. Water Res. 111, 366–374. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.01.017.
- Farhadkhani, M., Nikaeen, M., Yadegarfar, G., Hatamzadeh, M., Pourmohammadbagher, H., Sahbaei, Z., Rahmani, H.R., 2018. Effects of irrigation with secondary treated wastewater on physicochemical and microbial properties of soil and produce safety in a semi-arid area. Water Res. 144, 356–364. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2018.07.047.
- Fumian, T.M., Leite, J.P.G., Castello, A.A., Gaggero, A., de Caillou, M.S.L., Miagostovich, M.P., 2010. Detection of rotavirus a in sewage samples using multiplex qPCR and an evaluation

of the ultracentrifugation and adsorption-elution methods for virus concentration. J. Virol. Methods 170, 42–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2010.08.017.

- Gerba, C.P., Ross, A., Takizawa, K., Pepper, I.L., 2011. Efficiency of ASTM method D4994–89 for recovery of enteric viruses from biosolids. Food Environ. Virol. 3, 43–45. https://doi. org/10.1007/s12560-011-9054-9.
- Gholipour, S., Nikaeen, M., Farhadkhani, M., Nikmanesh, B., 2020a. Survey of listeria monocytogenes contamination of various environmental samples and associated health risks. Food Control 108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2019.106843.
- Gholipour, S., Shamsizadeh, Z., Moazeni, M., Nikaeen, M., 2020b. Environmental aspects of the coronaviruses transmission: a narrative review. J. Isfahan Med. Sch. 38, 206–215.. https://doi.org/10.22122/jims.v38i570.12893.
- Gholipour, S., Mohammadi, F., Nikaeen, M., Shamsizadeh, Z., Khazeni, A., Sahbaei, Z., Mousavi, S.M., Ghobadian, M., Mirhendi, H., 2021a. COVID-19 infection risk from exposure to aerosols of wastewater treatment plants. Chemosphere 273, 129701. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.129701.
- Gholipour, S., Rabbani, D., Nikaeen, M., 2021b. Presence of coronavirus, enterovirus and adenovirus in municipal wastewater as indicators of the prevalence of associated viral infections in the community. J. Maz. Univ. Med. Sci. 31, 44–54.
- Giammanco, G.M., Bonura, F., Urone, N., Purpari, G., Cuccia, M., Pepe, A., Muli, S.L., Cappa, V., Saglimbene, C., Mandolfo, G., 2018. Waterborne norovirus outbreak at a seaside resort likely originating from municipal water distribution system failure. Epidemiol. Infect. 146, 879–887.
- Gonzales-Gustavson, E., Rusiñol, M., Medema, G., Calvo, M., Girones, R., 2019. Quantitative risk assessment of norovirus and adenovirus for the use of reclaimed water to irrigate lettuce in Catalonia. Water Res. 91–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres. 2018.12.070.
- Gundy, P.M., Gerba, C.P., Pepper, I.L., 2009. Survival of coronaviruses in water and wastewater. Food Environ. Virol. 1, 10–14. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12560-008-9001-6.
- Gurwith, M., Wenman, W., Hinde, D., Feltham, S., Greenberg, H., 1981. A prospective study of rotavirus infection in infants and young children. J. Infect. Dis. 144, 218–224.
- Hamza, I.A., Jurzik, L., Überla, K., Wilhelm, M., 2011. Methods to detect infectious human enteric viruses in environmental water samples. Int. J. Hyg. Environ. Health 214, 424–436.. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2011.07.014.
- He, J.-W., Jiang, S., 2005. Quantification of enterococci and human adenoviruses in environmental samples by real-time PCR. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 71, 2250–2255.
- Hewitt, J., Greening, G.E., Leonard, M., Lewis, G.D., 2013. Evaluation of human adenovirus and human polyomavirus as indicators of human sewage contamination in the aquatic environment. Water Res. 47, 6750–6761. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2013.09. 001.
- Horswell, J., Hewitt, J., Prosser, J., Van Schaik, A., Croucher, D., Macdonald, C., Burford, P., Susarla, P., Bickers, P., Speir, T., 2010. Mobility and survival of salmonella typhimurium and human adenovirus from spiked sewage sludge applied to soil columns. J. Appl. Microbiol. 108, 104–114. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.2009.04416.x.
- Jebri, S., Jofre, J., Barkallah, I., Saidi, M., Hmaied, F., 2012. Presence and fate of coliphages and enteric viruses in three wastewater treatment plants effluents and activated sludge from Tunisia. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. Int. 19, 2195–2201. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11356-011-0722-y.
- Kitajima, M., Ahmed, W., Bibby, K., Carducci, A., Gerba, C.P., Hamilton, K.A., Haramoto, E., Rose, J.B., 2020. SARS-CoV-2 in wastewater: state of the knowledge and research needs. Sci. Total Environ. 739, 139076. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020. 139076.
- Kittigul, L., Pombubpa, K., 2021. Rotavirus surveillance in tap water, recycled water, and sewage sludge in Thailand: a longitudinal study, 2007–2018. Food Environ. Virol. 13, 53–63. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12560-020-09450-0.
- Kittigul, L., Rupprom, K., Che-Arsae, M., Pombubpa, K., Thongprachum, A., Hayakawa, S., Ushijima, H., 2019. Occurrence of noroviruses in recycled water and sewage sludge: emergence of recombinant norovirus strains. J. Appl. Microbiol. 126, 1290–1301. https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.14201.
- Ko, G., Jothikumar, N., Hill, V.R., Sobsey, M.D., 2005. Rapid detection of infectious adenoviruses by mRNA real-time RT-PCR. J. Virol. Methods 127, 148–153.
- Lahrich, S., Laghrib, F., Farahi, A., Bakasse, M., Saqrane, S., ElMhammedi, M.A., 2021. Review on the contamination of wastewater by COVID-19 virus: impact and treatment. Sci. Total Environ. 751. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.142325.
- Lindesmith, L., Moe, C., Marionneau, S., Ruvoen, N., Jiang, X.I., Lindblad, L., Stewart, P., LePendu, J., Baric, R., 2003. Human susceptibility and resistance to Norwalk virus infection. Nat. Med. 9, 548–553.
- Metcalf, T.G., Melnick, J.L., Estes, M.K., 1995. Environmental virology: from detection of virus in sewage and water by isolation to identification by molecular biology—a trip of over 50 years. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 49, 461–487.
- Moazeni, M., Nikaeen, M., Hadi, M., Moghim, S., Mouhebat, L., Hatamzadeh, M., Hassanzadeh, A., 2017. Estimation of health risks caused by exposure to enteroviruses from agricultural application of wastewater effluents. Water Res. 125, 104–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.08.028.
- Mohapatra, S., Menon, N.G., Mohapatra, G., Pisharody, L., Pattnaik, A., Menon, N.G., Bhukya, P.L., Srivastava, M., Singh, M., Barman, M.K., Gin, K.Y., Mukherji, S., 2021. The novel SARS-CoV-2 pandemic: possible environmental transmission, detection, persistence and fate during wastewater and water treatment. Sci. Total Environ. 765, 142746. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.142746.
- Monpoeho, S., Maul, A., Mignotte-Cadiergues, B., Schwartzbrod, L., Billaudel, S., Ferre, V., 2001. Best viral elution method available for quantification of enteroviruses in sludge by both cell culture and reverse transcription-PCR. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 67, 2484–2488.
- Moreira, N.A., Bondelind, M., 2017. Safe drinking water and waterborne outbreaks. J. Water Health 15, 83–96.
- Parashar, U.D., Hummelman, E.G., Bresee, J.S., Miller, M.A., Glass, R.I., 2003. Global illness and deaths caused by rotavirus disease in children. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 9, 565.

#### S. Gholipour et al.

Pepper, I.L., Brooks, J.P., Gerba, C.P., 2006. Pathogens in Biosolids, p. 90 https://doi.org/10. 1016/S0065-2113(06)90001-7.

- Pourakbar, M., Abdolahnejad, A., Raeghi, S., Ghayourdoost, F., Yousefi, R., Behnami, A., 2022. Comprehensive investigation of SARS-CoV-2 fate in wastewater and finding the virus transfer and destruction route through conventional activated sludge and sequencing batch reactor. Sci. Total Environ. 806, 151391.. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2021.151391.
- Prado, T., Gaspar, A.M.C., Miagostovich, M.P., 2014. Detection of enteric viruses in activated sludge by feasible concentration methods. Braz. J. Microbiol. 45, 343–349. https://doi. org/10.1590/s1517-83822014000100049.
- Qin, M., Dong, X.-G., Jing, Y.-Y., Wei, X., Wang, Z.-E., Feng, H.-R., Yu, H., Li, J.-S., Li, J., 2016. A waterborne gastroenteritis outbreak caused by norovirus GII. 17 in a hotel, Hebei, China, december 2014. Food Environ. Virol. 8, 180–186.
- Rahimi, N.R., Fouladi-Fard, R., Aali, R., Shahryari, A., Rezaali, M., Ghafouri, Y., Ghalhari, M.R., Ghalhari, M.A., Farzinnia, B., Fiore, M., 2020. Bidirectional association between COVID-19 and the environment: a systematic review. Environ. Res. 110692.
- Rames, E., Roiko, A., Stratton, H., Macdonald, J., 2016. Technical aspects of using human adenovirus as a viral water quality indicator. Water Res. 96, 308–326. https://doi.org/10. 1016/J.WATRES.2016.03.042.
- Rhodes, E.R., Boczek, L.A., Ware, M.W., McKay, M., Hoelle, J.M., Schoen, M., Villegas, E.N., 2015. Determining pathogen and indicator levels in class B municipal organic residuals used for land application. J. Environ. Qual. 44, 265–274. https://doi.org/10.2134/ jeq2014.04.0142.
- Schlindwein, A.D., Rigotto, C., Simões, C.M., Barardi, C.R., 2010. Detection of enteric viruses in sewage sludge and treated wastewater effluent. Water Sci. Technol. 61, 537–544. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2010.845.

Schrader, C., Schielke, A., Ellerbroek, L., Johne, R., 2012. PCR inhibitors–occurrence, properties and removal. J. Appl. Microbiol. 113, 1014–1026.

Serra-Compte, A., González, S., Arnaldos, M., Berlendis, S., Courtois, S., Loret, J.F., Schlosser, O., Yáñez, A.M., Soria-Soria, E., Fittipaldi, M., Saucedo, G., Pinar-Méndez, A., Paraira, M., Galofré, B., Lema, J.M., Balboa, S., Mauricio-Iglesias, M., Bosch, A., Pintó, R.M., Bertrand, I., Gantzer, C., Montero, C., Litrico, X., 2021. Elimination of SARS-CoV-2 along wastewater and sludge treatment processes. Water Res. 202, 117435.. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. watres.2021.117435.

- Sidhu, J.P.S., Toze, S.G., 2009. Human pathogens and their indicators in biosolids: a literature review. Environ. Int. 35, 187–201.
- Tozzoli, R., Di Bartolo, I., Gigliucci, F., Brambilla, G., Monini, M., Vignolo, E., Caprioli, A., Morabito, S., 2017. Pathogenic Escherichia coli and enteric viruses in biosolids and related top soil improvers in Italy. J. Appl. Microbiol. 122, 239–247. https://doi.org/10. 1111/jam.13308.
- US EPA, 1995. A Guide to the Biosolids Risk Assessments for the EPA Part 503 Rule. EPA 832– B–93–005.
- Von Elm, E., Altman, D.G., Egger, M., Pocock, S.J., Gøtzsche, P.C., Vandenbroucke, J.P., 2007. The strengthening the reporting of observational studies in epidemiology (STROBE) statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies. Bull. World Health Organ. 85, 867–872.
- Wang, X.W., Li, J., Guo, T., Zhen, B., Kong, Q., Yi, B., Li, Z., Song, N., Jin, M., Xiao, W., 2005. Concentration and detection of SARS coronavirus in sewage from xiao tang Shan hospital and the 309th Hospital of the Chinese People's liberation Army. Water Sci. Technol. 52, 213–221.
- Ward, R.L., Bernstein, D.I., Young, E.C., Sherwood, J.R., Knowlton, D.R., Schiff, G.M., 1986. Human rotavirus studies in volunteers: determination of infectious dose and serological response to infection. J. Infect. Dis. 154, 871–880.
- Wong, K.V., Xagoraraki, I., 2012. A perspective on the prevalence of DNA enteric virus genomes in anaerobic-digested biological wastes. Environ. Monit. Assess. 184, 5009–5016. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-011-2316-z.
- Wong, K., Onan, B.M., Xagoraraki, I., 2010. Quantification of enteric viruses, pathogen indicators, and salmonella bacteria in class B anaerobically digested biosolids by culture and molecular methods. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 76, 6441–6448. https://doi.org/10. 1128/aem.02685-09.
- Yang, W., Cai, C., Dai, X., 2021. Interactions between virus surrogates and sewage sludge vary by viral analyte: recovery, persistence, and sorption. Water Res. 117995.
- Yin, Z.Q., Voice, T.C., Tarabara, V.V., Xagoraraki, I., 2018. Sorption of human adenovirus to wastewater solids. J. Environ. Eng. 144. https://doi.org/10.1061/(asce)ee.1943-7870. 0001463.